
 

 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 

MEETING MINUTES 

 

January 2, 2007 

 

PRESENT:  
Douglas W. Lyon, Chair, Board of Selectmen  

Ruth I. Clough, Selectman  

Jessie Levine, Town Administrator 

 

ABSENT: 

Mark Kaplan, Selectman 

 

OTHERS PRESENT: 

Chad Denning, Recreation Director 

John Augustine, Sunapee resident and business owner 

DJ Lavoie, New London resident 

Carolyn Dube, Argus Champion 

Debbie Cross, Intertown Record 

 

Chair Lyon called the meeting to order at 8:00 AM.   

Meeting Minutes: Ms. Clough was not present for the meeting of December 18, and Mr. Kaplan is absent 

today.  Therefore, no decision could be made on the minutes of December 18, 2006. 

Tracy Library: Ms. Levine asked for permission pursuant to the Town’s Alcohol Policy to serve alcohol 

at Tracy Library on January 3, 2007, for the retirement party for Ginny Foose and Linda Miller.  Ms. 

Clough moved to approve the request, seconded by Chair Lyon and approved 2-0. 

Personnel Policy: Ms. Levine said that all employees have received a draft of the new personnel policy, 

and she asked for the Selectmen to formally approve the policy that has been in the works for the past two 

years, effective January 1, 2007.  Chair Lyon moved to approve the policy, seconded by Ms. Clough and 

approved 2-0. 

Roundabout: Ms. Levine said that she is scheduled to meet with Hilltop residents at 2:00 PM on January 

9, and invited the Selectmen to join the meeting.  She said she would also be meeting with the engineer 

on Wednesday to review the latest plans. 

Cross-Country Ski Program: At 8:20 AM, the Selectmen were joined by John Augustine and 

introductions were made.  Chair Lyon stated that it is his understanding that Mr. Augustine is not a 

resident or a taxpayer in New London, but he represents individuals who do not want to give their names.  

Chair Lyon asked why people would not want to give their names, and Mr. Augustine replied that they do 

not want to be subject to public scrutiny or repercussions.  Chair Lyon asked for examples, and Mr. 

Augustine said that any time someone comes forward, their interests may be biased by disagreeing with 

the Selectmen’s decision.  Someone may have business before the ZBA, Planning Board, or even an 

employee facing a personnel review.  He referenced the middle school debate and the letters to the editor 

and frustration that resulted, and now there is a hesitancy for people to step forward.   

Chair Lyon responded that all of the Selectmen’s business is public, and he favors operating in a full 

disclosure environment in which the Selectmen put their name on anything they do.  He asked Mr. 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes         

January 2, 2007 

Page 2 of 2 

 

Augustine how many people he represents, and Mr. Augustine said that is irrelevant.  He said the 

messenger and the communication vehicle are irrelevant; it’s the message that should be under discussion, 

as the concerns were expressed before his ads came out in the Shopper.  He said the town manager was 

quoted in the paper saying that she got emails that described the cross-country ski program as bad or 

laughable or both, and it does not matter who chose to place ads and whom they represent. 

Ms. Clough asked if Mr. Augustine’s concern was the process of the Selectmen’s decision, and he said he 

is concerned about the result of the decision and the impact it has, though it might only be a short-term 

impact.  He added that the process could have a ripple effect over a longer period of time.  He referred to 

the meeting in September when about 20 people met with the Selectmen to discuss the ski program and 

said there were no representatives of the public at the subsequent meetings.  At the September 25
th
 

meeting, Mr. Augustine said, there was feedback that the topic needs more study and discussion.  Then 

subsequent minutes reflect the chair’s reservations.  Mr. Augustine said it is disconcerting that the 

Selectmen would disregard public sentiment and the reason he had gone to the Shopper and not back to 

the Selectmen is that the Selectmen had disregarded direct input. 

Chair Lyon said he would disagree with Mr. Augustine’s characterization.  The Selectmen had concerns 

but agreed to go ahead with a program on a trial basis this year in order to keep cross-country skiing in 

New London.  He said that all of the subsequent meeting minutes reflect the Selectmen’s discussions.  

Mr. Augustine said he has no opposition to recreation or to cross-country skiing, but the details of the 

program leave a lot to be desired.  He suggested that a committee could have been formed that could have 

achieved the same goals in a more effective way.  He said there were other things that could have been 

implemented that would make the program better but it appears that the Selectmen had only one vision 

and went down that path. 

Ms. Clough said she disagreed.  The Selectmen had extensive conversations at Selectmen’s meetings, in 

public.  Mr. Augustine replied that there were lengthy discussions with small subsets of people with 

preconceived notions that reinforced the Selectmen’s decision.  He asked what was wrong with having a 

committee on recreation, and Chair Lyon replied that there already is a Recreation Commission that was 

included in the process.  He added that this is a trial program, and since it’s been started, he has had only 

two comments from members of the public: one who asked for more information and one who 

complimented the idea.  Mr. Augustine said the Selectmen meet at 8:00 AM on Mondays, which limits 

the public’s ability to attend meetings.  Chair Lyon said that there has not been much of a reaction from 

citizens, and it is puzzling to the Selectmen that Mr. Augustine would come in from another town 

purporting to represent citizens of New London.  He added that he is happy to hear Mr. Augustine’s 

suggestions on how the program could be improved because the Selectmen are always looking for ways 

to improve town programs.   

Mr. Augustine asked how many of the 32 people who have purchased passes so far are children.  Chad 

Denning said there are maybe one or two children, and it is mostly adults, especially seniors, who have 

participated.  Mr. Augustine asked how many pass holders were members of the Pine Hill Ski Club last 

year, and Mr. Denning said he did not have that information, although he could go back and ask people 

now.  Mr. Augustine said if the Town’s goal is to increase participation, it would make sense to check 

against last year’s tickets. DJ Lavoie said she is curious to find out whether any of the 32 people would 

have signed up for a season’s pass anyway.  Mr. Augustine said the minutes from September 25 reflect 

the statement that a shortcoming last year was that children and families could not participate, so he 

suggested that Mr. Denning figure out last year’s demographic and put in elements that would increase 

participation for all ages, demographics, and genders.  Ms. Clough agreed, but asked how the Selectmen 

would know without a pilot program and advertising for increased participation.  She asked how the 

Town could expect people to sign up without first designing a program.  Mr. Augustine said the Town 

could have gone to all of the families that participate in other programs and see what they need to 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes         

January 2, 2007 

Page 3 of 3 

 

participate in cross-country skiing.  He said they may want a free ski day.  Mr. Augustine said there can 

be a well-designed pilot program but he does not have to put his hand on a stove to know that he’s going 

to get burned.  Ms. Clough said the Recreation Department has run other pilot programs too, such as the 

dance programs and rock climbing.   

Mr. Augustine said he is not suggesting that programs should not be started, but that questions should be 

asked first.  The September 25 minutes reflect that another ski provider had said that making the program 

free would not increase participation, but what does work is providing lessons or equipment.  He said the 

Selectmen disregarded this feedback.  Chair Lyon said the other ski provider’s program was not 

sustainable and he left town, so while it might be nice to provide all of those options, the business was not 

sustainable that way.  The Selectmen simply tried to support a maintenance program that would keep 

trails open in New London. 

Ms. Clough said they have already discussed the possibility of including equipment and lessons and 

broadening the base of interested citizens.  She agrees that it would be wonderful to expand and she felt 

like this was a viable program.  She said the Town’s Recreation Department is always open and willing to 

look at new and innovative programs.  There is a ten-year Master Plan process that will start this spring, 

and she hopes to address recreational possibilities in town, as it is important to keep citizens active.  She 

does not think a small pilot program would defeat that strategy in any way, and in fact hopes it will help.  

Mr. Augustine said that sounds great, and he supports recreation and cross-country skiing.  The process 

for the ten-year plan is important, but it is optimistic to expect people to come to the Selectmen.  People 

have other priorities and other issues that jump to the top of the list.  He said to make sure the meetings 

are publicized and that information gathering sessions be held at night, preferably around other activities. 

Mr. Denning asked Mr. Augustine if the ski business at Dexter’s Inn provides lessons or equipment, and 

Mr. Augustine said that it did, although they do not sell season’s passes.  He said the Selectmen are 

disregarding the message; the tone of the article in the Argus was that the Selectmen should not listen to 

the message because it was from people in Sunapee.  He asked if the Selectmen thought that the “outing” 

of him as the person who placed the Shopper ads fostered public input.  Ms. Clough replied that if he had 

come to the Selectmen with more questions before the decision was made, his input might have made a 

difference.  Mr. Augustine said there was a meeting on September 25, and he and others left the meeting 

thinking that the issue would be studied further and he did not think he had to come back.  Ms. Levine 

said that all subsequent discussions were covered in the local papers, and she sent letters to both ski 

businesses involved after the September 25 meeting that described the proposal in detail.  Mr. Augustine 

said “I and others didn’t think you listened so we shouldn’t come back.  People feel like they gave you the 

feedback directly and it didn’t matter, so a broader vehicle was needed.” 

Chair Lyon said it sounds like Mr. Augustine disagrees with both the process and the decision, and Mr. 

Augustine agreed.  Chair Lyon asked Mr. Augustine what was wrong with a recreational opportunity that 

keeps trails open in New London.  He added that the process was open to the public, and Mr. Augustine 

agreed but said the Selectmen meet at 8:00 AM on Mondays, when most people are working.  Ms. Clough 

said that she had spoken to John Chiarella throughout the course of discussion, and he had asked her to 

bring his concerns to the attention of the other Selectmen, which she did. Mr. Augustine said he wants the 

record to reflect that Mr. Chiarella did not have anything to do with the ads in the Shopper, though he 

supports peoples’ rights to express their opinions.   

Mr. Augustine went on to ask why the Selectmen did not contact him once they found out that he had 

placed the ad, and Chair Lyon asked why he had not contacted the Selectmen prior to placing the ads.  

Mr. Augustine said he had shared his input with the Selectmen on September 25, to which Chair Lyon 

replied that the Selectmen had listened and modified their proposal because of the input, and then 

circulated the new proposal.  Chair Lyon said that Mr. Augustine decided to ridicule the program instead 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes         

January 2, 2007 

Page 4 of 4 

 

of coming to the Selectmen with his concerns.  He said the Selectmen, thinking the ads were anonymous, 

had planned to respond in the Shopper before they got an email from a town resident informing them who 

had placed the ads.  Ms. Levine said she had then contacted the Shopper to confirm the information first-

hand.  Carolyn Dube from the Argus said she had asked Ms. Levine if she knew who placed the ads, and 

Ms. Levine told her the information.  If she had not gotten it from Ms. Levine, she would have called the 

Shopper herself. 

Mr. Augustine asked for a copy of the email that the Town had received, and Ms. Levine said she would 

forward it to him.  Mr. Augustine asked again why the Town had not approached him once they found out 

he had placed the ads, and Ms. Levine said that within two days she had been called by two radio 

programs, the Argus, and numerous residents, and she did not think to call Mr. Augustine directly.  She 

said she was not sure what that would have accomplished, since the ads had already been publicized.  Ms. 

Clough added that this is the Selectmen’s first meeting since the ads were placed, so it is their first 

opportunity to talk about a response.  Mr. Augustine said that the Selectmen could have handled it 

differently by not using his name.  Chair Lyon asked Mr. Augustine if he thought “dear town leaders” did 

not suggest that the ads were written to the Board of Selectmen.  He said he thought Mr. Augustine’s 

name should be public because public business should be done in the public.  Mr. Augustine said that 

when the Selectmen “out” someone, it suppresses further dialogue.  Chair Lyon replied that the Shopper 

ads did not constitute “dialogue.”  

Ms. Levine said it was not until after the Shopper ads came out that Mr. Augustine requested copies of the 

Selectmen’s meeting minutes and the recreation revolving fund from which the ski passes were paid.  She 

said all of this information would have been available had he asked for it.  Ms. Clough said she 

understands what Mr. Augustine is saying, but said that we are talking about a small pilot program that 

was started to see what the response was.  Cross-country skiing has been in New London for many years 

and the Selectmen wanted to try to keep it alive for one more year and then to assess the program.  She 

thinks this is a laudable position for the Town.  Mr. Augustine said the process was lacking. 

Mr. Augustine asked to return to Mr. Denning’s question about the ski program at Dexter’s Inn.  He said 

Dexter’s has equipment rental, lessons, daily tickets, restrooms, and warm indoor facilities.  They cater to 

clientele who are looking for a destination cross-country ski experience and might spend the night and 

have dinner, and it is open to anyone.  His business caters to beginners and to families because they offer 

equipment rental and lessons.  These are two entirely different ventures; what happens in New London 

will have no impact on Dexter’s Inn and what happens to cross-country skiing at Dexter’s will have no 

impact on Dexter’s income.   

Ms. Clough asked Mr. Augustine to give the Selectmen his suggestions for how the program could be 

improved.  Mr. Augustine said he has a number of ideas.  First, there should be lessons.  He said the 

Chiarellas have offered to teach lessons, and it would be good to have one group providing the trails and 

another providing the lessons.  Ms. Levine asked if his suggestion is limited to the Chiarellas or if it could 

be someone else providing the lessons and Mr. Augustine said it could be anyone. 

Second, he suggested that there be some avenue for equipment rental.  He suggested that the Town make 

a deal with a business in Town that rented equipment that would reduce residents’ costs.  Mr. Denning 

said he did that with the skating rink, working with John Kiernan at Village Sports to rent ice skates, but 

there are no businesses in town that rent ski equipment, so the closest is S&W Sports in Concord.  

Third, he suggested that there be day passes such as free skiing every Sunday.  Fourth, Mr. Augustine 

said the Town could go the extra mile and provide day care, perhaps by working with Colby-Sawyer 

students.  Mr. Denning said he is working on that right now, in fact.  Mr. Augustine said if that is true, 

then no one knows about it and people should be included in the process, not just find out when it’s all 

done.  Mr. Denning said that all of Mr. Augustine’s suggestions are potentially viable and have been 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes         

January 2, 2007 

Page 5 of 5 

 

looked into.  He added that the Town is not trying to tell Pine Hill Ski Club how to run, but is simply 

encouraging people to get out and ski.  Mr. Augustine replied that if the Town is giving PHSC money, 

they should put performance requirements on them rather than give them a blank check.  Ms. Levine said 

that the funds from the Town offset the resident’s portion of the cost and does not provide Pine Hill with 

any extra income.  She said that she sees this program as no different than any other Recreation 

Department program and it fits perfectly within the mission and goals of the Recreation Department.   

DJ Lavoie said she is “on the trench.”  She said the Shopper ads are similar to the Town’s Quicklink 

newsletters, simply trying to get out information.  She said people would like more information about 

things that are in the works.  Ms. Levine agreed that information should be public, but said the Shopper 

ads contained misinformation, which is not helpful to anyone.  She said all departments, including her 

own, are always developing new ideas and working on a number of projects, and it would be burdensome 

and costly to provide regular updates.  The department heads come to the Selectmen’s meetings when 

there is something of particular interest or importance to share, and those meetings are reported by the 

press.  

Mr. Augustine said the Town’s Red Sox program has broad base support and appeal and is a perfect 

example of a successful program.  He said the Town should follow that program in developing other ones.  

Ms. Levine said the Red Sox tickets are popular but it costs more for one game than it would cost a 

resident for a whole season of skiing.  She said that when she spoke to Mr. Augustine, he was critical that 

the ski program did not encourage people with low incomes to participate, and she asked Mr. Augustine if 

he thought the Red Sox trips were any better in that regard.  She said the Town provides scholarships for 

most of its recreational programs, but not generally to the Red Sox trips. 

Mr. Augustine said Ms. Levine stated that his ads contained misinformation, and he asked what was 

untrue.  Ms. Levine said that the two most important corrections were 1) that the passes were not paid by 

taxpayer money, but by the Recreation Revolving Fund, which reuses fees collected from other programs; 

and 2) that the decision was made publicly.  Mr. Augustine said that there are town funds being spent for 

Mr. Denning’s time and Ms. Levine’s time, as well as the other people in the office, and Ms. Levine 

concurred, though all of those people are already being paid.  She agreed that all town departments make 

use of town resources.  She said that Mr. Augustine had not asked for the minutes of the Selectmen’s 

meetings until after placing the ads, but they were posted on the website and available at the Town 

Offices.  Ms. Clough said she would rather not revisit all nine of the ads. 

Ms. Levine asked Mr. Augustine if people could rent equipment at Dexter’s and ski elsewhere, and he 

said yes, in principle, but he would have to look at the cost.  He thought that he would have to also charge 

for the day pass of skiing, since he would lose that income if people did not ski on site. 

Mr. Augustine said he would be on WNTK in the morning, and after a brief closing discussion, he 

departed the meeting at 9:20 AM.  The Selectmen discussed whether to respond to the ads in the Shopper 

or through other means, and Ms. Lavoie advised not to rebut the ads.  The Selectmen concurred. 

Whipple Memorial Town Hall: Ms. Levine presented the Selectmen with drawings done by Chris Lizotte 

of Sheerr McCrystal showing the potential renovation for the basement of Whipple Memorial Town Hall.  

The large meeting room could hold up to 64 people in its current configuration, which is many more than 

she thought.  The renovation would require an ADA ramp, which could be accomplishing by moving the 

generator.  The generator has to be moved anyway to repair a leak that the generator covers.  Since the 

building is considered historic, the front stairwell does not have to be changed.  The design 

accommodates two public bathrooms and a kitchen.  Ms. Levine said she has spoken with Jeannie Plant, 

and it is possible that the space could be used as a pet-friendly shelter in an evacuation emergency, since 

Red Cross shelters do not allow pets.  She said that it is not necessarily about pet safety, but that some 

residents will not leave their homes without their pets, and this gives the pets care and a safe place until 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes         

January 2, 2007 

Page 6 of 6 

 

homes can be reopened.  She has asked for design information that should be included, and Chair Lyon 

suggested that she talk to Dee Ganley of the Upper Valley Human Society. 

Ms. Levine said that she does not have a price estimate yet, as she would ask for proposals pursuant to the 

Selectmen’s request.  The Selectmen discussed whether there is a need for renovating the basement this 

year, given the other budget items of importance.  Ms. Levine said that at a minimum, she would like to 

restore the police evidence storage and exercise room, which were removed for the demolition, and 

replace the windows.  This may be accomplished at relatively low cost.  The Selectmen suggested 

postponing the discussion until they had a better idea of cost. 

There being no further business, the Selectmen signed the items below. 

Building Permits:   

• Joyce and Joseph Cioffi, 101 Red Brook Road (Map 060, Lot 019), permit to install a 12’ x 20’ 

garden shed – Approved (Permit 06-152) 

• Thomas and Sally Young, 72 Checkerberry Lane (Map 044, Lot 029), permit to extend deck – 

Approved (Permit 06-153) 

• Robert Tappen, 421 Hall Farm Road (Map 076, Lot 010), permit for temporary storage unit – 

Approved (Permit 06-154) 

• James and Laura Alexander, 349 Wilmot Center Road (Map 052, Lot 003), permit for a 24’ x 60’ 

open storage shed attached to northeast side of garage pursuant to notice of violation dated June 2, 

2006 – Approved (Permit 06-155) 

• James and Laura Alexander, 349 Wilmot Center Road (Map 052, Lot 003), permit for a 16’ x 48’ 

storage shed with 16’ x 18’ concrete apron pursuant to notice of violation dated June 2, 2006 – 

Approved (Permit -6-156) 

• James and Laura Alexander, 349 Wilmot Center Road (Map 052, Lot 003), permit for a 16’ x 16’ 

screened porch and a 13’ x 6’ deck on west end of house pursuant to notice of violation dated June 2, 

2006 – Approved (Permit -6-157) 

Sign Permit Applications: NONE 

 

Other Items for Signature: 

• Disbursement & Payroll Vouchers for the week of December 25, 2006 and January 1, 2007 – 

Approved 

• Trail Use Agreement between Frank and Karen Voellmann (Property Owners) and the Town of New 

London - Approved 

• Notice of Intent to Cut Wood or Timber for Mary Ellen Alger, Lakeshore Drive (Map 24, Lot 001) - 

Approved 

• Notice of Intent to Cut Wood or Timber for Christopher and Maria Lynch, Mountain Road (Map 100, 

Lot 002 and Map 112, Lot 003) - Approved 

• Petition and Pole License Application – Approved 

• Town of New London Personnel Policy for full and part-time employees - Approved 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes         

January 2, 2007 

Page 7 of 7 

 

Abatement Recommendations: 

• Michael Cox, 320 Otterville Road (Map 042, Lot 022) - Approved 

There being no further business, the Board of Selectmen adjourned the meeting at 9:50 AM. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

Jessie W. Levine 

Town Administrator 


